RECEIVED 09-04-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent

v. Appellate Case No.: 2018AP1171-CR Circuit Court Case No.: 2015CF2006 Milwaukee County

DIONTE J. NOWELS, Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DENIAL OF POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH DONALD AND CAROLINA STARK PRESIDING

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Sara H. Roemaat Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No.: 1056631

Roemaat Law Offices, LLC PO Box 280 Pewaukee, WI 53072 Phone: 262-696-9012 Fax: 262-696-6323 sara@roemaatlaw.com

Issue Presented

1. Should Nowels' plea be withdrawn because the court failed to recite two elements of count 3?

Answered by circuit court: No, Nowels understood all the elements of count 3.

Position on Oral Argument and Publication

Neither is requested, as the appeal can be resolved upon the parties' briefs and publication is not necessary.

Statement of the Case and Facts

On May 1, 2015, Nowels was charged with one count of Armed Robbery (Party to a Crime), one count of Second Degree Reckless Homicide, and one count of Hit and Run (Resulting in Death). On April 28, 2015, Milwaukee Police Officers responded to a fatal motor vehicle crash that had occurred at the intersection of North 53rd Street and W. Center Street in the city and county of Milwaukee. Officers observed a green Chevrolet Malibu with severe front-end damage as well as a silver Mercury Cougar with severe damage to the driver's side door. The Cougar's driver, E.A., was pronounced dead at the scene because of the car accident. R1:4.¹

Video surveillance showed the driver of the Malibu exited the vehicle and fled on foot. Citizen witness K.N. stated that a man she later identified as Nowels approached her vehicle and attempted to enter the passenger side of it. Citizen witness A.C. told police that she heard somebody asking to be let into her apartment as they appeared to be kicking her back door. She then heard three kicks and saw somebody enter her apartment. The person, later identified as Nowels, offered her money in exchange for her to hid him. A.C. rejected the money, and Nowels ran further into her house. R1:2-3.

Police Officer Jonathan Meijas-Rivera stated that he was responding to an armed robbery call that involved a green Malibu. Officer Meijas-Rivera attempted to pull over the suspected Malibu, but the Malibu drove away, reaching fast speeds. Officer Meijas-Rivera witnessed the car crash and he saw an African-American male flee from the car and attempt to enter a passing vehicle. The officer then saw the male flee into the apartment where Mr. Nowels was arrested. R1:3.

¹ Names have been reproduced to preserve confidentiality.

Further, F.D. told police that Nowels was armed, and forced him to let him drive his car to the bank before all this occurred; this was the alleged armed robbery the officer was responding to. R1:3.

Nowels had an initial appearance on May 2, 2015; probable cause was found, and bail was set at \$250,000. R54. A preliminary hearing was held on May 12, 2015, and Nowels was bound over for trial. R55:21. On May 27, 2015, Nowels was arraigned. R56. A standard pretrial conference was held on June 18, 2015, and the case was adjourned. R57.

On July 14, 2015, Nowels' attorney withdrew. R58. On July 27, 2015, a status conference was held to get the new attorney up to speed. R59. On October 29, 2015, Nowels' new attorney withdrew. R60. On December 9, 2015, Nowels had a new attorney appointed, but that attorney withdrew because he obtained new employment. R61. A status of counsel was held on January 5, 2016. R62.

An amended Information was filed on February 26, 2016; it amended count 1, Armed Robbery, to Operating a Motor Vehicle Without Owner's Consent. R14. Nowels entered a guilty plea to all three charges on February 26, 2016. R63. On April 21, 2016, Nowels received 18 months initial confinement and 2 years extended supervision on count 1, 15 years initial confinement and 10 years extended supervision on count 2 (concurrent with count 1, consecutive to count 3 and consecutive to any other sentence), and 5 years initial confinement and 5 years extended supervision on count 3. R22; App. 101.

Nowels timely filed a postconviction motion on March 20, 2018. Nowels argued that he should be allowed to withdraw his plea on count 3 or, in the alternative, be resentenced. Nowels argued that he did not understand count 3 when he pled guilty because the court did not inform him of

element 2 or element 5 for count 3. Element 2 stated that the State would have to prove that he knew the vehicle he was operating was involved in an accident involving an attended vehicle. Element 5 stated that he was physically capable of complying with the requirement of that hit and run statute. R42.

A motion hearing was held on June 19, 2018. Nowels' attorney testified that she had no specific recollection of what the negotiations were. R66:6. She also testified that with regard to going over the plea questionnaire with Nowels, "[I] cannot pretend to know what exact words I used or anything like that; I did document that and, based on my documentation and normal practice, I would say that I have a memory but I can't tell you exactly what I said" R66:7.

She further testified that she gave him the jury instructions on January 25, 2016, but her time log specifically indicated that she did not go through the jury instructions with him. R66:8. On January 26, 2018, her time log did not reflect that she went through the jury instructions with him, although she believed that she did because that was her normal practice; however, she had no independent recollection of that. R66:8. She was also positive that she went through the jury instructions with Nowels in February, but she had no documentation of that; instead, she had documentation that she reviewed the plea questionnaire, options, risks and benefits, and she answered his questions. R66:9. She further believed that she went through the jury instructions with Nowels because there were markings on the page, but again stressed that she had no independent recollection. R66:10.

The attorney testified that she went over defense issues with regard to the second element but had no independent recollection of any discussion of the fifth element. R66:10-11. On cross-examination, the attorney testified that she typically has the clients recite their crimes using the elements, but she had no independent recollection of Nowels doing that in this case. R66:14.

Nowels then testified. He testified that he did not remember reading the plea questionnaire nor did he remember going over the attached elements sheet. He did not feel like he understood what the elements were when he pled guilty. He stated that he was "led to believe that because [he] was charged and being convicted for two different death charges, one person being killed, and [he] was led to believe that once [he] killed...[E.A.]...that was reckless homicide. And when [he] left the scene, that made the hit and run resulting in death as—she made it seem that was the only thing that was different 'cause [he] left the scene." R66:26. Nowels testified that had he fully known the elements, he would not have pled guilty. R66:26.

Nowels stated that he would not have pled guilty because he thought he was in an accident with a stop sign, and because he did not believe he was physically capable of following the statute. R66:27-28.

The circuit court held that during the plea hearing, the court did not satisfy the requirements of the statute because the court did not completely review the elements, nor did it confirm that Nowels' attorney had accurately reviewed all the elements of the offense. R66:41-42; App. 119-120. The court also held that the attorney had given Nowels the written jury instructions when they met in January 2016, although she did not go over it with him at that time. R66:43; App. 121. The court found that the attorney met with Nowels on February 25, 2016 and "during that in person meeting, she did specifically review jury instruction 2670 with the defendant; specifically reviewing element number 2 and element number 5 with the defendant." R66:43; App. 121.

The court then found that the attorney met with Nowels on February 26, 2016, and she reviewed all five elements of instruction 2670 with him; she read them out loud and "she asked him to tell her in his own words how his conduct, or what he admitted doing, satisfied or related to each of the five elements; including having him tell her in his own words how conduct he admitted to satisfied element number 2 and element number 5." R66:43-44; App. 121-122..

Ultimately, the court found that Nowels knew and understood elements 2 and 5 when he entered his plea on February 26, 2016. The court did not find his testimony to be more credible than the attorney's testimony. The court found that "even though [the attorney] testified that she didn't have the independent recollection of the exact words that she said to him, her testimony included that the markings on the forms were hers, that her practice is to do that with a defendant as she's going through the forms with them." R66:47-48; App. 125-126.

The court also found that the sentence was not harsh and excessive. That issue is not being taken up on appeal. A Notice of Appeal was timely filed.

Argument

I. Nowels' plea was not knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily entered.

a. Standard of review.

Whether a plea colloquy violates Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.08 or other mandatory duties is a question of law that the Court of Appeals determines independently of the circuit court while benefiting from their analysis. Whether a defendant's plea was entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily is a question of constitutional fact and an appellate court will uphold the circuit court's findings unless they are clearly erroneous. However, the appellate court independently determines as a matter of law whether the circuit court's findings of historical fact demonstrate that the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *State v. Finley*, 2016 WI 63, ¶57-59, 370 Wis.2d 402, 882 N.W.2d 761.

b. General principles of law.

A guilty plea must be entered knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently. *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis.2d 246, 257, 389 N.W.2d 12, 21 (1986) *citing Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 242 (1969). In making sure that a plea is entered knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently, the trial court has several duties, including establishing that a defendant understands the nature of the crime charged. *Bangert*, 131 Wis.2d at 262; Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.08(1)(a). An understanding of the nature of the charge must include an awareness of the essential elements of the crime. *Bangert*, 131 Wis.2d at 267.

Post-sentencing, a defendant must prove by clear and convincing evidence that a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in a "manifest injustice." *State v. Thomas*, 2000 WI 13, ¶16, 232 Wis.2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836. A manifest injustice exists where a defendant demonstrates that the plea was coerced, uninformed, or unsupported by a factual basis, and where counsel provided ineffective assistance, or the prosecutor failed to fulfill the plea agreement. *State v. Krieger*, 163 Wis.2d 241, 249-51 and n.6, 471 N.W.2d 599 (Ct. App. 1991).

Under *Bangert*, a defendant can move to withdraw his plea if the plea colloquy did not conform with Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.08 and judicial mandates, and the defendant did not know or understand information that should have been given at the plea hearing. Thus, his plea would not be knowing, intelligent and voluntary. *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis.2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

The circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing if the defendant makes a prima facie showing that the court failed to follow the requirements of Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.08 or other mandatory procedures and if the defendant did not know or understand the information that should have been provided at the plea colloquy. *Bangert*, 131 Wis.2d at 274. The defendant is then entitled to withdraw his plea as a matter of right because such a plea "violates fundamental due process" unless the state can show that the plea was entered knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily, despite the deficiencies in the plea hearing. *State v. Van Camp*, 213 Wis.2d 131, 139, 569 N.W.2d 577 (1997); *State v. Trochinski*, 253 Wis.2d 38, ¶17, 644 N.W.2d 891.

With regard to how the court may establish a defendant's understanding of the charges to which he is pleading, the court may use any of the following non-exhaustive methods:

- 1) The trial court may summarize the elements of the crime charged by reading from the appropriate jury instructions;
- The trial judge may ask the defendant's counsel whether he explained the nature of the charge to the defendant and request him to summarize the extent of the explanation, including a reiteration of the elements, at the plea hearing; and
- The trial judge may expressly refer to the record or other evidence of defendant's knowledge of the charge established prior to the plea hearing.

Bangert, 131 Wis.2d at 268.

c. Nowels did not understand the elements.

In Nowels' case, the court went through the following elements for count 3, Hit and Run Resulting in Death:

You understand that the State would have to prove that again, on or about April 28th of 2015 in the 5300 block of West Center Street in the City of Milwaukee. Milwaukee County, State of Wisconsin, being the operator of a vehicle involved in an accident resulting in the death of [E.L.A.], you did fail to immediately stop the vehicle at the scene of the accident or as close thereto as possible, and failed to remain at the scene of said accident until you fulfilled the following requirements. Until you provided name, address, and registration number of the vehicle that you were driving to the person struck, or to the operator, or to the occupant of, or a person attending any vehicle collided with, upon request and if available, exhibit your operator's license to the person struck or the operator or occupant of or a person attending any vehicle collided with, or render to any person injured in such accident reasonable assistance, including the carrying or making of arrangements for the carrying of such person to a physician, surgeon, or hospital for medical or surgical treatment if it is apparent that such treatment is necessary, or if such caring is requested by the injured person. And that you did this contrary to section 346.67(1) and 346.74(5)(d), and 939.50(3)(d) of the Wisconsin Statutes.

R63:14-15; App. 113-114.

However, the court left out two elements in reciting the jury instruction. The second element is that "the defendant knew that the vehicle he was operating was involved in the accident involving an attended vehicle. This requires that the defendant knew, before leaving the scene, that the accident involved an attended vehicle." JI 2670. The fifth element is that "the defendant was physically capable of complying with the requirements I have just recited." *Id*. The court failed to recite either of these elements.

During the plea hearing, Mr. Nowels' trial attorney testified that she went over the plea questionnaire with Mr. Nowels but never stated on the record that she explained the nature of the charges to him, and the circuit court never asked Mr. Nowels or his attorney to summarize the elements.

Thus, the court held an evidentiary hearing because Mr. Nowels had made a prima facie showing that the court failed to follow the requirements of Wis. Stat. Sec. 971.08 by not reciting all the elements of count 3. At the hearing, the court denied Nowels' motion. The court did find that the court that took the plea did not satisfy the requirements of the statute because the court did not completely review the elements, nor did it confirm that Nowels' trial attorney had accurately reviewed all the elements of the offense. R66:41-42; App. 119-120. Nowels agrees with this finding.

However, the court clearly erroneously exercised its discretion when holding that Nowels understood the elements based on interaction with his trial attorney. First, the court held that the attorney had met with Nowels on February 25, 2016 and "during that in person meeting, she did specifically review jury instruction 2670 with the defendant; specifically reviewing element number 2 and element number 5 with the defendant." R66:43. However, this is not what the testimony demonstrated. The trial attorney testified that her notes stated that on February 25, 2016, she met with Nowels to discuss the plea questionnaire, options, risks and benefits, and to answer his questions. She did not testify that she specifically went over element number 2 nor element number 5 on that date. R66:9.

The court then found that the attorney met Nowels on February 26, 2016, and she reviewed all five elements of instruction 2670 with him; she read them out loud and "she asked him to tell her in his own words how his conduct, or what he admitted doing, satisfied or related to each of the five elements; including having him tell her in his own words how conduct he admitted to satisfied element number 2 and element number 5." R66:43-44; App. 121-122. Again, this is not what the trial attorney testified to.

She testified that her jury instructions that she submitted to the court has the regular markings that she used when going through jury instructions with clients. R66:9. She believed this meant she went through the jury instructions with Nowels but had no independent recollection. R66:10.

She did say that one defense she recalled was that he did not know he had hit an attended vehicle. R66:10. However, she did not recall going over the other elements, including the 5th element, with him. She testified that she typically has each of her clients explain how their conduct fulfills the elements but had no recollection of this. R66:14.

Trial attorneys often do not have recollections of plea preparations because they happen far in the past, but this trial attorney did not recall anything specifically except for going over the second element. She inferred that she took detailed notes about these meetings with Nowels, and yet there is nothing in her notes about going over the jury instructions, much less that she went over every single element.

In reaching its decision, the circuit court relied on information that was not presented to the court. The trial attorney did state what her typical practice was, but she did not characterize her testimony the way the court did in reaching its decision. At most, the trial attorney testified that she went over element 2 and Nowels understood it, but there is nothing about going over element 5 with him, or how she demonstrated that he understood it.

Further, the fact that the trial attorney missed not one but two elements that the court failed to recite in court indicates that the trial attorney did not spend enough time with Nowels to ensure he understood the elements; she did not even notice when the court neglected to recite multiple elements. The record conclusively demonstrates that Nowels was never informed and was otherwise unaware that the State had to prove elements 2 and 5. He is therefore entitled to withdraw his plea.

Conclusion

For the reasons set forth above, Nowels respectfully requests that the Court of Appeals reverse the decision of the circuit court to deny the motion to withdraw his plea.