RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **09-28-2018**

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP1171-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DIONTE J. NOWELS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE M. JOSEPH DONALD AND THE HONORABLE CAROLINA M. STARK, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

HANNAH S. JURSS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081221

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Nowels knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered his guilty plea to hit and run, resulting in death.

A. Legal principles

Wisconsin Stat. § 346.67(1) makes it a crime for a person to leave the scene of a car accident before providing information and reasonable assistance, where the accident resulted in injury or death. Wisconsin Criminal Jury Instruction 2670 sets out five elements for this offense.

The second element states: "The defendant knew that the vehicle (he) (she) was operating was involved in an accident involving (a person) (an attended vehicle). This requires that the defendant knew, before leaving the scene, that the accident involved (a person) (an attended vehicle)." Wis. JI–Criminal 2670.

The fifth element, which follows an element requiring the State to prove the defendant did not remain at the scene until he had provided personal information and reasonable assistance, states: "The defendant was physically capable of complying with the requirements I have just recited." Wis. JI–Criminal 2670.²

² Effective April 1, 2016—after Nowels's offense and guilty plea—the Legislature amended the hit and run statute. It added language to section 346.67(1), to clarify, as the second jury instruction element already explained, that a person must comply if he "knows or has reason to know" the accident caused injury or death. 2015 Wis. Act. 319, § 1. The Legislature also added section 346.67(3), which provides that a "prosecutor is not required to allege or prove that an operator knew that he or she collided with a person or a vehicle driven or attended by a person in a prosecution under this section." 2015 Wis. Act. 319, § 3.

Where a defendant seeks plea withdrawal based on a defect in the plea colloquy (a *Bangert* claim), the defendant must make a *prima facie* showing in his postconviction motion that the court (a) violated one of the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 971.08 (a court's obligations at a plea hearing) and (b) the defendant did not understand the information that should have been provided. *Trochinski*, 253 Wis. 2d 38, ¶ 17.

If the defendant meets that burden, the burden shifts to the State to show by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's plea was nevertheless knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered. *Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 274. A circuit court may consider any evidence in the entirety of the record to determine whether the State met this burden. *Id.* at 274–75.

A fact-finding is clearly erroneous if it is "against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *State* v. Arias, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 12, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748 (citation omitted). "[A] factual finding is not clearly erroneous merely because a different fact-finder could draw different inferences from the record." *State* v. Wenk, 2001 WI App 268, ¶ 8, 248 Wis. 2d 714, 637 N.W.2d 417.

Put more bluntly, a fact-finding is clearly erroneous if it "strikes [the court] as wrong with the force of a five-weekold, unrefrigerated dead fish." In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Boyle, 2015 WI 110, ¶ 41, 365 Wis. 2d 649, 872 N.W.2d 637 (citation omitted).

Moreover, fact-finders "may draw reasonable inferences from credible evidence, and the reviewing court must accept those inferences unless they are against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *State ex rel. N.A.C. v. W.T.D.*, 144 Wis. 2d 621, 636, 424 N.W.2d 707 (1988) (citation omitted). "An inference is reasonable if it can be fairly drawn from the facts in evidence." *Id.*

B. The circuit court's fact-findings were not clearly erroneous.

Nowels's entire argument concerns fact-findings. He does not argue that, under the facts as found by the circuit court, his plea was unknowingly entered.

His arguments fail. The dispositive factual question was: did trial counsel review with Nowels, and verify he understood, the second and fifth elements of hit and run, resulting in death, prior to his guilty plea?

The circuit court found the answer to be "yes." The record more than supports this finding. First, counsel submitted Wisconsin Criminal Jury Instruction 2670 with the plea questionnaire form. (R. 16:5.) Nowels acknowledged reviewing and signing the form at the plea hearing, and the form itself acknowledged that he reviewed any attachments. (R. 15:1–2.) The jury instruction is covered with handwritten circles and strikeouts. (R. 16:5–6.)

Second, defense counsel testified she was "positive" she reviewed the jury instructions with Nowels prior to his guilty plea. (R. 66:9, 19.) Her confidence was supported by specific information: she provided Nowels with unmarked jury instructions as part of an 83-page document in January 2016. (R. 66:9.) This, juxtaposed with the marked jury instructions submitted with the plea questionnaire, and her normal practice of making such markings when reviewing elements with a client prior to a plea, established that she reviewed the elements with Nowels. (R. 66:9–17.)

Moreover, she (a) initially expected the case to go to trial and (b) once she knew he would instead be entering guilty pleas, had a routine practice to make her clients "acknowledge each element" to prepare for being "grilled" at the plea hearing. (R. 66:10, 13–14.) She testified she talked with Nowels about both the second and fifth elements of hit and run, resulting in death, and had him explain why those elements existed in his case. (R. 66:11, 14, 18.) She also testified that Nowels did not appear to have any mental health issues. (R. 66:18.) All of this supports the circuit court's dispositive fact-findings.

Nowels argues the circuit court's fact-findings were clearly erroneous because the court found that trial counsel (a) reviewed the elements in the instruction with Nowels on February 25 and (b) asked him to explain how his conduct fit the second and fifth elements on February 26. (Nowels's Br. 12–13.) Nowels takes issue with the court's finding that those events occurred on those particular dates. (Nowels's Br. 12–13.)

These fact-findings were not clearly erroneous. Counsel was "positive" she went through the instructions with him in February 2016, and she testified she met with Nowels on February 25 and 26 to discuss his plea. (R. 66:9, 19.) She testified that she went through the jury instructions with him, and—in preparation for his plea—discussed how elements two and five existed. (R. 66:11, 14, 17–18.)

It was reasonable for the court to infer, based on counsel's testimony, that she would have first explained the instructions to Nowels and then, as preparation to be "grilled," asked Nowels to explain how his conduct fit the elements on the morning of the plea. (R. 66:14); see State ex rel. N.A.C., 144 Wis. 2d at 636. Ultimately, whether each particular event occurred on February 25 or February 26 does not change the reasonableness of the fact-finding that counsel did verify—within one day of his guilty plea—that Nowels understood the elements.

Nowels argues "there is nothing" in the record concerning counsel's review of the fifth element of the offense. (Nowels's Br. 13.) On the contrary, the record includes the following exchange: "[E]lement number 5 is at the bottom, the defendant was physically capable of complying with the requirements I have just recited . . . that is another element you talked to him about and had him explain why that element factually existed?" "Yes." (R. 66:18.)

Nowels tries to lean on trial counsel's lack of independent recollection as support for his arguments. (Nowels's Br. 13.) In so doing, Nowels overlooks the specific factual information counsel highlighted that led to her confidence in her actions, even without independent recollection. (See R. 66:8–18.) Moreover, as Nowels recognizes, it is by no means unusual that an attorney would not have specific independent recollections of every detail of representation, particularly where the guilty plea occurred over two years before trial counsel's testimony. (See Nowels's Br. 13.) Nowels may disagree with the court's fact-findings, but that does not make them clearly erroneous.

Nowels points to the three non-exhaustive methods a court may employ to ensure a defendant understands the nature of the charge at a plea hearing. (Nowels's Br. 10.) That case law, however, is inapposite here. It addresses what a court is supposed to do at the plea hearing, not the ways a reviewing court may determine whether the defendant entered a knowing plea despite a deficient colloquy. *See Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 268.

Similarly, Nowels suggests that trial counsel's failure to alert the court at the plea hearing that it missed two of the elements of hit and run demonstrates that counsel failed to ensure Nowels's understanding. (Nowels's Br. 13.) We, however, are past the point of debating the adequacy of the plea colloquy. The question is whether the circuit court's fact-findings following the *Bangert* hearing were clearly erroneous. They were not.

Lastly, as Nowels is not entitled to reversal, this Court need not wade into the question of remedy upon reversal. Nevertheless, should this Court disagree, it is important to note that—though Nowels only sought plea withdrawal on Count 3 in his postconviction motion—he entered one global agreement. Should reversal occur, the State may seek to vacate the entire plea agreement on remand. *See, e.g., State v. Krawczyk,* 2003 WI App 6, ¶¶ 31–35, 259 Wis. 2d 843, 657 N.W.2d 77 (discussing the State's interests in plea withdrawal in various multi-count plea agreement cases).

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the circuit court's order denying Nowels's postconviction motion.